STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable Thomas L. Hughston, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KRAIG JERMAYNE ANDERSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-000703

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
MAR 04 2019
SC Court of Appeals

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether the trial court erred in admitting an out-of-court identification of Appellant, where the lineup was unduly suggestive, where Appellant was the only suspect wearing a prison jumpsuit, and where the remaining reliability factors could not be met such that a substantial likelihood of misidentification existed?

II. Whether the trial court erred in refusing to grant a mistrial, where the photograph of Appellant wearing a prison jumpsuit from the unduly suggestive lineup was displayed in the courtroom before the jury?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In May 2016, a Charleston County grand jury indicted Appellant for criminal sexual conduct in the first degree. On April 9, 2018, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Thomas L. Hughston and a jury. R. 1. Jessica Baldwin and Jennifer Shealy appeared on behalf of the State, and Lorelle Proctor and Taylor Seman represented Appellant.

Following a three-day trial, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 355, ll. 14 – 16. Judge Hughston sentenced Appellant to the maximum sentence of thirty years. R. 365, ll. 14 – 17.

This brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“[W]hether an eyewitness identification is sufficiently reliable is a mixed question of law and fact.” State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 288, 540 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2000) (finding show-up identification unreliable as a matter of law); see also State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81-82, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526-27 (2004) (citing Moore and holding that photographic line-up procedure was “patently suggestive”). “Generally, the decision to admit an eyewitness identification is at the trial judge’s discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of such, or the commission of prejudicial legal error.” Moore at 288, 540 S.E.2d at 448. “In reviewing mixed questions of law and fact, where the evidence supports but one reasonable inference, the question becomes a matter of law for the court.” Id. Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016).

A trial judge's decision denying a mistrial will be reversed on appeal if the denial amounts to an abuse of discretion. State v. Rowlands, 343 S.C. 454, 458, 539 S.E.2d 717, 719 (Ct. App. 2000). “Whether a mistrial is manifestly necessary is a fact specific inquiry. It is not a mechanically applied standard, but rather is a determination that must be made in the context of the specific difficulty facing the trial judge.” Id. at 457–58, 539 S.E.2d at 719 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

Although the decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court, the appellate court must reverse the ruling if the decision was an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 257, 746 S.E.2d 495, 500 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 495, 692 S.E.2d 560, 563 (Ct. App. 2010)).

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in admitting an out-of-court identification of Appellant, where the lineup was unduly suggestive, where Appellant was the only suspect wearing a prison jumpsuit, and where the remaining reliability factors could not be met such that a substantial likelihood of misidentification existed.

Relevant facts

On June 18, 2014, C.W., a 24-year old woman, gave Appellant a ride from Wild Buffalo Saloon in North Charleston. R. 17, ll. 9 – 14; R. 36, ll. 11 – 25. She claimed at trial that Appellant sexually assaulted her in the woods. R. 129, l. 19 – R. 145, l. 13. Following the alleged assault, C.W. called law enforcement from a nearby Denny's. R. 145, l. 21 – R. 146, l. 9. C.W. did not know Appellant prior to June 2014.

She was asked to make a photo identification on numerous occasions; she was shown at least four total lineups. R. 19, ll. 4 – 22; (Court's Exhibits 1 – 5, Photographs, on file with this Court). C.W. did not identify Appellant in any of the first three sets of photographs; he was not in them. R. 201, ll. 20 – 25. However, she was close to identifying a man in the second lineup. R. 25, ll. 16 – 20. She stated to law enforcement that she was "85 percent sure" that a different man was the one who allegedly sexually assaulted her. R. 163, l. 16 – R. 164, l. 1.

The fourth and final lineup contained a picture of Appellant in a prison jumpsuit. Following the *in camera* testimony of C.W. and Daniel Pritchard, the law enforcement officer who showed her the lineup, defense counsel made an argument that the lineup and accompanying identification should be suppressed under Neil v. Biggers.¹ R. 31, l. 21 – R. 32, l. 15. The motion was denied. R. 34, ll. 6 – 11.

¹ 409 U.S. 188, 93 S.Ct. 375, 34 L.Ed.2d (1972).

During C.W.'s testimony before the jury, counsel renewed the objection. R. 151, ll. 1 –

25.

At the conclusion of C.W.'s testimony, defense counsel moved for a mistrial: Your Honor, at this time, the defense would make a motion for a mistrial. We had - - when she put in the line of pictures we had put up, we did object to it. But then when she took out the individual picture and put it up on the screen, you can tell that he's got on a jumpsuit. It looks like he's somebody that's in jail.

R. 168, l. 22 – R. 169, l. 19. The trial judge did not find that the photographs were unduly suggestive and did not grant the mistrial motion. R. 169, ll. 16 – 19.

Discussion

“A criminal defendant may be deprived of due process of law by an identification procedure arranged by police which is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification.” State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526 (2004). “An in-court identification of an accused is inadmissible if a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.” Id.

In Neil v. Biggers, the United States Supreme Court set forth a two-pronged inquiry to determine whether due process requires suppression of an eyewitness identification. Due process requires courts to assess, on a case-by-case basis, whether the identification resulted from unnecessary and unduly suggestive police procedures, and if so, whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. Biggers, 409 U.S. at 198, 93 S.Ct. 375. Under the totality of the circumstances, the factors to be considered in assessing the reliability of an otherwise unduly suggestive identification procedure are: (1) the witness's opportunity to view the perpetrator at the time of the crime, (2) the witness's degree of attention, (3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the perpetrator, (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and

(5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 114, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 53 L.Ed.2d 140 (1977) (citing Biggers, 409 U.S. at 199–200, 93 S.Ct. 375).

South Carolina courts have held this determination should be made during an *in camera* hearing, outside of the presence of the jury. See State v. Ramsey, 345 S.C. 607, 613, 550 S.E.2d 294, 297 (2001) (holding that generally, a trial court must hold an *in camera* hearing when the State offers a witness whose testimony identifies the defendant as a person who committed the crime and the defendant challenges the in-court identification as being tainted by a previous, illegal identification or confrontation); State v. Simmons, 308 S.C. 80, 417 S.E.2d 92 (1992) (same); see also Rule 104(c), SCRE (providing that “[h]earings on the admissibility of ... pretrial identifications of an accused shall in all cases be conducted out of the hearing of the jury”). “The purpose of the *in camera* hearing is to determine whether the in-court identification was of independent origin or was the tainted product of the circumstances surrounding the prior, out-of-court identification.” Ramsey, 345 S.C. at 613, 550 S.E.2d at 297.

The fact that Appellant appeared in the lineup in a prison jumpsuit is unduly suggestive to anyone viewing the photographs that Appellant was either arrested or potentially involved with law enforcement by virtue of allegedly committing a crime. An individual faced with making an identification is likely drawn to the prison jumpsuit, thereby influencing the decision. Because law enforcement created the lineups, the government decided which pictures to include. R. 200, ll. 16 – 19. Wielding that power, law enforcement made them unduly suggestive. The fourth photograph of Court’s Exhibit 5 / State’s Exhibit 61 bearing C.W.’s signature allegedly pictures Appellant. However, Appellant is wearing a prison jumpsuit as evidenced by the distinct collar and inseam area.

C.W. participated in multiple photographic lineups. R. 149, ll. 1 – 6. Because the fourth and final one was unduly suggestive, a review of the reliability factors is required by due process. The five factors are: (1) the witness's opportunity to view the perpetrator at the time of the crime, (2) the witness's degree of attention, (3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the perpetrator, (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 114, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 53 L.Ed.2d 140 (1977) (citing Biggers, 409 U.S. at 199–200, 93 S.Ct. 375).

C.W. testified that the encounter with Appellant allegedly took place in the early morning hours, around 3:00 a.m. R. 17, ll. 9 – 17. Questions were asked of whether she could see Appellant at the saloon where they supposedly spoke earlier, but case law sets forth that the first factor include an analysis of viewing the alleged perpetrator *at the time of the crime*. Although C.W. claimed that Appellant was in front of her during the assault, the prosecution failed to elicit information about the lighting or whether C.W. had the opportunity to view him at the time. Thus, this factor weighs against a reliability determination.

Secondly, C.W. admitted that she had been drinking earlier at the bar. R. 18, ll. 17 – 20. She stated that she would not have been surprised if she had consumed four beers and four shots in the evening. R. 162, ll. 4 – 6. Therefore, it logically follows that her degree of attention—potential inebriation included—may not have been very high. Once more, this factor weighs against a reliability determination.

The third factor, the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the perpetrator, was not discussed in detail during the *in camera* hearing. As a result, this factor cannot weigh in favor of reliability.

Fourth, the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation was high—at a prior lineup. R. 23, l. 20 – R. 24, l. 5. C.W. confirmed, with a confidence level of between eighty and eighty-five percent, that she was sure that a man other than Appellant was the perpetrator. Id. As a result, C.W.'s subsequent identification, although perhaps confident as well, is tainted by her previous misidentification. If the confidence level was so high the first time, testimony regarding accuracy and certainty the second attempt is illusory and untrustworthy.

Lastly, fifteen months separated the night in question and the final identification. R. 20, ll. 18 – 24. Therefore, this final factor weighs against a finding of reliability.

II. The trial court erred in refusing to grant a mistrial, where the photograph of Appellant wearing a prison jumpsuit from the unduly suggestive lineup was displayed in the courtroom before the jury.

After the photograph depicting Appellant in a prison jumpsuit appeared on the screen in the courtroom, a mistrial should have been granted.

Whether to grant or deny a mistrial motion is a matter within the trial court's sound discretion, and the court's decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 12–13, 515 S.E.2d 508, 514 (1999); State v. White, 371 S.C. 439, 443–44, 639 S.E.2d 160, 162 (Ct. App. 2006). A mistrial should be declared only when absolutely necessary. Council, 335 S.C. at 13, 515 S.E.2d at 514. In order to receive a mistrial, a defendant must show error and resulting prejudice. Id. It is only in cases of abuse of discretion which result in prejudice that this court will intervene and grant a new trial. White, 371 S.C. at 444, 639 S.E.2d at 162.

Generally, evidence of prior crimes or bad acts is not admissible to prove the crime for which the defendant is charged. State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 416, 118 S.E. 803, 807 (1923). Such evidence is admissible when it tends to show (1) motive; (2) intent; (3) the absence of mistake or accident; (4) a common scheme or plan embracing the commission of two or more crimes so related to each other that proof of one tends to establish the others; or (5) the identity of the person charged with the commission of the crime on trial. Id. The evidence of prior crimes or bad acts must be relevant to prove the alleged crime. State v. Campbell, 317 S.C. 449, 451, 454 S.E.2d 899, 901 (Ct. App. 1994). When the prior bad acts are “strikingly similar to the one for which the appellant is being tried, the danger of prejudice is enhanced.” State v. Gore, 283 S.C. 118, 121, 322 S.E.2d 12, 13 (1984). “[E]ven if [the] prior bad act evidence is clear and convincing and falls within an exception, it must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant.” State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 611, 646 S.E.2d 872, 877 (2007). This balancing process is reflected in Rule 403, SCRE.

The danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs and probative value gleaned by publishing the picture of Appellant in jail attire to the jury. Doing so invaded the province of the jury; the photograph removed the proverbial robe of innocence from Appellant. He was judged according to this photograph and not whether he was innocent or guilty of the crime for which he was on trial.

CONCLUSION

Appellant respectfully requests this Court reverse his conviction based upon the trial court's error in failing to exclude the prejudicial photograph and failing to grant a mistrial when the photograph was shown to the jury in the courtroom.

A handwritten signature in black ink, appearing to read "Taylor D Gilliam", written over a horizontal line.

Taylor D Gilliam
Appellate Defender