ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
The Honorable Thomas L. Hughston, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000703

RECEIVED

FEB 28 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Respondent,

THE STATE,

v.

KRAIG JERMAYNE ANDERSON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
OT Wallace Building
Charleston, SC 29401
(843)-958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the trial judge properly admitted Victim's out-of-court identification of Appellant where the identification procedure used was not unnecessarily suggestive and even if this Court were to determine that it was, the identification was nonetheless reliable and no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed?

II.

Whether the trial judge abused his broad discretion in refusing to grant Appellant a mistrial when a photograph of Appellant wearing a grey and white shirt was shown to the jury but no reference was made to Appellant being in custody and therefore Appellant was not prejudiced by its admission, and where even if the photograph was admitted in error, whether any error was entirely harmless because of the overwhelming evidence presented against Appellant at trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In May 2016, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for one count of criminal sexual conduct in the first degree. On April 9-11, 2018, a jury trial was held in the Charleston County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable Thomas L. Hughston, presiding. Appellant was represented by Lorelle Proctor, Esquire, and Taylor Joy Seman, Esquire of the Charleston County Public Defender's Office. The Respondent (the State) was represented by Assistant Solicitors Jessica Baldwin and Jennifer Shealy of the Ninth Circuit Solicitor's Office. At the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Appellant as charged. Following the verdict, the trial judge sentenced Appellant to thirty years' imprisonment. Appellant then timely filed a notice of appeal and an initial brief. This brief of Respondent now follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 18, 2014, Victim went to the Wild Buffalo Saloon in North Charleston to meet up with a friend who was tending the bar that night. (R. 130). Victim met a black male and asked him for a cigarette on the patio of the bar. (R. 134). Victim did not know this individual's name, but he was later identified as Appellant. (R. 153). As Victim prepared to leave, she was approached by a regular customer at the bar named Ed who insisted on walking her to her car. (R. 137-38). Victim declined to be walked to her car by Ed, but Ed continued to follow her. As Victim reached her car, Appellant interjected and told Ed that Victim had agreed to give him a ride home. (R. 138). Victim thought Appellant was being chivalrous and doing her a favor. (R. 138). However, after Ed left Victim and Appellant alone, Appellant entered Victim's car and insisted she give him a ride home. (R. 139). Victim reluctantly agreed and proceeded to drive Appellant down Greenridge road, where Appellant claimed to live.

As Appellant and Victim were driving to Appellant's residence, Appellant changed his story and said he didn't live on Greenridge road, but rather he was staying in a hotel nearby. (R. 140). After driving past several hotels, Appellant and Victim arrived at a Country Inn and Suites. (R. 141). Victim told Appellant that she needed to use a restroom and asked if she could use the one in Appellant's room or in the hotel lobby. (R. 142). Appellant refused, and told Victim she would have to urinate in the woods. Victim started walking into the woods near the hotel and Appellant followed her. After Victim finished urinating in the woods, Appellant pushed her against a tree and began to strangle her. (R. 143). Victim tried to keep her legs crossed and resist Appellant, but she eventually submitted to Appellant because she feared that Appellant might strangle her to death. After Victim uncrossed her legs, Appellant engaged in vaginal intercourse with Victim. (R. 144). After Appellant released Victim, he said "that's why you don't give rides

to strangers.” (R. 144, lines 11-12). Victim returned to her car and drove to a nearby Denny’s restaurant where she called 911. (R. 144).

After law enforcement arrived at Denny’s, Victim was transported to MUSC where a sexual assault examination was performed. Test samples were taken from Victim’s vaginal area and other areas of her body and sent to SLED to test for DNA. Victim met with law enforcement and viewed five different photo lineups on three different occasions. (R. 148, State’s Exhibits 59-62). The first occasion was on July 14, 2014 where Victim viewed three six person photo lineups. (State’s Exhibit 59, 62). Victim viewed an additional six person lineup on July 20, 2014, and the final lineup on October 6, 2015. (R. 149, 153, State’s Exhibit 60-61). On July 14, 2014, Victim told law enforcement that she saw one individual in the three lineups who could have been her assailant, but she could not be one hundred percent sure. As a result Victim did not make a selection. (R. 149, 163).

Some of the test samples that were sent to SLED were found to contain semen. (R. 276). The samples containing semen were run through the CODIS database and matched positively with Appellant’s DNA. (R. 176, 279). Based on this finding, Detective Angela Elmer of the North Charleston Police Department placed Appellant’s photo in a fifth six person lineup and showed it to Victim on October 6, 2015. (R. 176, 208). Victim identified Appellant in the lineup and at trial. (R. 150, State’s Exhibit #61). Appellant was subsequently located and arrested in Michigan. (R. 209). At the conclusion of trial, Appellant was convicted as charged.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “Whether an eyewitness identification is sufficiently reliable is a mixed question of law and fact.” State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 137-138, 727 S.E.2d 422, 425 (2012). “In reviewing mixed questions of law and fact, where the evidence supports but one reasonable inference, the question becomes a matter of law for the court.” State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 288, 540 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2000). “Generally, the decision to admit an eyewitness identification is at the trial judge’s discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of such, or the commission of prejudicial legal error.” Id.

“The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial judge.” State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 560, 575 S.E.2d 77, 82 (Ct. App. 2003). “The court’s decision will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” Id. “The power of a court to declare a mistrial ought to be used with the greatest caution under urgent circumstances, and for very plain and obvious causes” stated into the record by the trial judge. Thompson, 352 S.C. at 560, 575 S.E.2d at 82, (citing State v. Kirby, 269 S.C. 25, 28, 236 S.E.2d 33, 34 (1977)).

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly admitted Victim's out-of-court identification of Appellant where the identification procedure used was not unnecessarily suggestive and even if this Court were to determine that it was, the identification was nonetheless reliable and no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in admitting Victim's out-of-court identification of Appellant because the lineup was unduly suggestive. Additionally, Appellant argues the identification was unreliable because Appellant was the only individual in the lineup that was wearing a prison jumpsuit. Appellant's arguments are without merit. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting Victim's identification of Appellant, because Victim's identification was reliable and the procedure used by law enforcement was not unnecessarily suggestive. Victim's identification was reliable because she identified him immediately and testified that she had "no doubt whatsoever" that she identified the correct person. (R. 22, 150, 168, line 8). Furthermore, Victim testified that she "had no idea" Appellant was wearing a prison jumpsuit and therefore her identification of Appellant was not unduly influenced by his clothing. (R. 25, line 11). Therefore, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting Victim's identification of Appellant. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

"When a defendant challenges the admissibility of a witness's identification, trial courts employ a two-prong inquiry to determine whether due process requires suppression." State v. Wyatt, 421 S.C. 306, 310, 806 S.E.2d 708, 710 (2017). "First, the court must determine whether the identification resulted from 'unnecessarily suggestive' police identification procedures." Id. (quoting Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 198-199 (1972)). "An in court identification of an accused is inadmissible if a suggestive and out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification." State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81, 600

S.E.2d 523, 526 (2004). “If the court finds the police procedures were not suggestive, or that suggestive procedures were necessary under the circumstances, the inquiry ends there and the court need not consider the second prong.” State v. Wyatt, 421 S.C. 306, 310, 806 S.E.2d 708, 710 (2017) “If, however, the court determines the procedures were both suggestive and unnecessary, the court must then determine ‘whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed.’” State v. Wyatt, 421 S.C. at 311, 806 S.E.2d at 710 (citing State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 727 S.E.2d 422, 426 (2012)).

The United States Supreme Court has prescribed a number of factors to be considered by appellate courts when determining whether a risk of misidentification existed. The factors to be considered include: “the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, the witness’ degree of attention, the accuracy of the witness’ prior description of the criminal, the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and the length of time between the crime and the confrontation.” Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 199-200 (1972).

Applying the two pronged test of Neil v. Biggers to the current case, the out-of-court identification of Appellant was neither unnecessarily suggestive nor was there a substantial likelihood of misidentification. Appellant initially argues that the lineup was unduly suggestive because Appellant appeared to be wearing a prison jumpsuit in the lineup. This argument is belied by the testimony presented during the *in camera* hearing and at trial. Victim testified that she recognized Appellant immediately and was “very certain” that she made the correct decision. (R. 22, line 16, 150). Furthermore, Victim was not told by law enforcement that Appellant was in the October 6 lineup, nor was she told that she had picked the correct person. (R. 21-23, 30, 150, 153). Victim also identified Appellant at trial in front of the jury as being the person who

assaulted her. (R. 153). Contrary to Appellant's assertion, Victim testified that she did not know Appellant was wearing a prison jumpsuit. (R. 25). Likewise, the trial judge remarked that he didn't think Appellant looked like he was wearing prison attire, but rather looked similar to the rest of the men in the October 6 lineup. (R. 169). Additionally, the fact that Victim had looked at four previous lineups without making a selection before she finally settled on selecting Appellant demonstrates that the lineup procedure used by law enforcement was not unnecessarily suggestive. Therefore, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting Victim's out-of-court identification of Appellant.

Appellant next argues that in light of the unnecessarily suggestive nature of the October 6 lineup, there was a substantial likelihood of misidentification. Even if we assume for the sake of argument that the October 6 lineup was unnecessarily suggestive, Victim's identification was nevertheless reliable. Victim had the opportunity to view Appellant on multiple occasions throughout the night of June 18, 2014 and into the morning of June 19, 2014. Victim viewed Appellant outside the bar on the patio, both outside and inside her car, and in the woods when he sexually assaulted her. (R. 134, 138, 143-44). Victim was also able to identify Appellant in security camera footage from the Wild Buffalo Saloon. (R. 157). Additionally, Victim testified that she was very certain about her identification and that she picked Appellant immediately. (R. 22, 150, State's Exhibit #61). That Victim had viewed four previous lineups before she finally selected Appellant weighs in favor of the reliability of her identification, because Victim demonstrated she was not going to select an individual unless she was absolutely certain that it was the person who assaulted her. Indeed, Victim saw a person in a previous lineup that she thought could be her assailant, but she did not make a selection because she was not one hundred percent certain. Victim's selection of Appellant almost a year and a half after the assault reflects

a high level of confidence and certainty that she had correctly identified her assailant. Therefore, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting Victim's out-of-court identification of Appellant. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

II.

The trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion in refusing to grant Appellant a mistrial when a photograph of Appellant wearing a grey and white shirt was shown to the jury but no reference was made to Appellant being in custody, and therefore Appellant was not prejudiced by its admission. However, even if the photograph was admitted in error, any error was entirely harmless because of the overwhelming evidence presented against Appellant at trial.

Lack of Prejudice to Appellant

Appellant contends the trial judge erred by not granting him a mistrial when a photograph of him in a prison jumpsuit was shown to the jury. Appellant argues that this photograph prejudiced him and caused the jury to judge him based on the photograph rather than on whether he was guilty or innocent of the crime for which he was charged. Appellant's argument is without merit. Appellant assumes that he was adversely affected by the jury seeing a photograph of him in a grey and white shirt. Appellant was never identified as wearing a prison jumpsuit in front of the jury by any witness, nor was it apparent that he was in fact wearing one. Therefore, there is no evidence in the record to indicate that Appellant was identified as being an inmate in front of the jury. However, even if the photograph of Appellant was admitted in error, admission of the photo was harmless because of the overwhelming evidence presented against Appellant at trial.

"The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial judge." State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 560, 575 S.E.2d 77, 82 (Ct. App. 2003). "The court's decision will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law." Id. "The power of a court to declare a mistrial ought to be used with the greatest caution under

urgent circumstances, and for very plain and obvious causes” stated into the record by the trial judge. Thompson, 352 S.C. at 560, 575 S.E.2d at 82, (citing State v. Kirby, 269 S.C. 25, 28, 236 S.E.2d 33, 34 (1977)). “A mistrial should not be granted unless absolutely necessary.” State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 13, 515 S.E.2d 508, 514 (1999). Instead, the trial judge should exhaust other methods to cure possible prejudice before aborting a trial. Id. In order to receive a mistrial, the defendant must show error and resulting prejudice. Id.

Appellant is unable to show that he was prejudiced by the admission of his photograph into evidence. Here, there was no plain and obvious basis on which to grant a mistrial. Indeed the trial court found Appellant was not wearing prison attire and stated that Appellant had on similar clothes as the other men in the lineup. Appellant asserted that his photo depicted him in prison attire, but Appellant was never identified as being in custody in front of the jury. The only reference made to what Appellant was wearing at trial occurred during Appellant’s *in camera* cross examination of Victim. Victim denied that she picked Appellant based on his clothing, and maintained she “had no idea” Appellant was in a prison uniform. (R. 25, line 11). Appellant did not ask the same question when cross examining Victim before the jury, and thus no witness or attorney revealed he was wearing prison attire. Without any evidence that Appellant was prejudiced by the admission of his photograph, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by refusing to grant Appellant’s motion for a mistrial.

Harmless Error

Even if we assume for the sake of argument that Appellant’s photograph was admitted in error, any error was entirely harmless because of the overwhelming evidence presented against Appellant at trial.

“Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case.” Thompson, 352 S.C. at 562, 575 S.E.2d at 83. “No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). “Where a review of the entire record establishes the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the conviction should not be reversed.” Thompson, 352 S.C. at 562, 575 S.E.2d at 83. “Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” Mitchell, 286 S.C. at 573, 336 S.E.2d at 151 (quoting State v. Key, 256 S.C. 90, 180 S.E. 2d 888 (1971)).

The evidence presented against Appellant at trial was overwhelming. Appellant was identified in court by Victim as being her assailant. (R. 153). Victim also identified Appellant in security camera footage from Wild Buffalo Saloon. (R. 157). Victim’s identification of Appellant was corroborated by Appellant’s semen and DNA being found in her vaginal area. (R. 279). The probability of selecting another individual with the same DNA profile as Appellant is 1 in 160 trillion. (R. 279). Law enforcement identified Appellant based on the match of Appellant’s DNA found in the CODIS database before Victim selected him from the October 6 lineup. (R. 176, 279). Appellant attempted to account for the presence of his DNA by arguing in closing that he had consensual sex with Victim. However, Appellant’s defense was contradicted by the testimony of Dr. Kathy Gill-Hopple who confirmed that Victim had been strangled. (R. 310-13, State’s Exhibits 23, 24, 25, 32, 33). The jury was convinced of Appellant’s guilt by the DNA evidence and evidence of strangulation and not by a single photograph of Appellant wearing a grey and white shirt that neither the Victim nor the trial judge thought was a prison uniform. Any error in the admission of Appellant’s photograph was harmless. Appellant’s conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.